
 
 

CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
You are invited to attend a Meeting of the  
 

RIGHTS OF WAY AND COMMONS SUB COMMITTEE 
 
At: 
 

Committee Room 2, Civic Centre, Swansea. 
 

On: 
 

Wednesday, 18 June 2014 

Time: 
 

2.00 pm 

 
AGENDA 

 
  Page No. 
 
1 Election of Chair for the 2014/2015 Municipal Year.  
 
2 Election of Vice-Chair for the 2014/2015 Municipal Year.  
 
3 To receive any Apologies for Absence.  
 
4 To receive Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests. 1 - 2 
 
5 Minutes. 3 - 5 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting of 
the Rights of Way and Commons Sub Committee held on 23 April 
2014.  

 

 
6 Active Travel (Wales) Act Progress Report.  (For Information) 6 - 8 
 
7 Application to Register Land Known as the Green, Accessed off Y 

Llwyni, Llangyfelach, Swansea as a Town or Village Green - 
Application No. 2729(S). 

9 - 11 

 
8 Alleged Public Footpath from Pentrechwyth Road to Brokesby 

Road and Footpath No.451 - Community of Bonymaen. 
12 - 24 

 
9 Alleged Public Footpath from Landor Drive to the Croft - 

Community of Loughor. 
25 - 58 

 
10 Countryside Access Budget. 59 - 61 
 
11 Date of Next Meeting - 2 p.m. on Wednesday, 13 August 2014.  
 
 



 
 
Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal, Democratic Services & Procurement 
Thursday, 12 June 2014 

Contact: Democratic Services - 636016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



RIGHTS OF WAY & COMMONS SUB COMMITTEE (12) 
 

Councillors 
 

Labour Councillors: 8 

Ann M Cook  Jennifer A Raynor  

Joe A Hale Robert V Smith 

Jane E C Harris Des W W Thomas  

Yvonne V Jardine T Mike White 

 
Liberal Democrat Councillors: 2 

Paul M Meara John Newbury 

 
Independent Councillor: 1 

Keith E Marsh  

 
Conservative Councillor: 1 

Linda J Tyler-Lloyd  
 

 
 

Officers: 

Phil Holmes Head of Regeneration & Planning 

Deb Smith Directorate Lawyer, Legal, 
Democratic Services & Procurement 

Sandie Richards Principal Lawyer 

Kim Flanders Planning Policy & Environment 
Manager, Regeneration & Housing 
Department 

Chris Dale Countryside Access Team Leader 
(Rights of Way), Regeneration & 
Housing Department 

Mike Workman Rights of Way Officer, Legal & 
Democratic Services & Procurement 

Democratic Services  

Planning Services  

Archives  

Spare  
 

28 Copies  
 
 



E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\2\0\8\AI00007802\$53dujfmh.doc 

Disclosures of Interest 

 
To receive Disclosures of Interest from Councillors and Officers 

 

Councillors 

 
Councillors Interests are made in accordance with the provisions of the 
Code of Conduct adopted by the City and County of Swansea.  You must 
disclose orally to the meeting the existence and nature of that interest. 
 
NOTE: You are requested to identify the Agenda Item / Minute No. / Planning 
Application No. and Subject Matter to which that interest relates and to enter 
all declared interests on the sheet provided for that purpose at the meeting. 
 
1. If you have a Personal Interest as set out in Paragraph 10 of the 

Code, you MAY STAY, SPEAK AND VOTE unless it is also a 
Prejudicial Interest.  

 
2. If you have a Personal Interest which is also a Prejudicial Interest as 

set out in Paragraph 12 of the Code, then subject to point 3 below, you 
MUST WITHDRAW from the meeting (unless you have obtained a 
dispensation from the Authority’s Standards Committee) 

 
3. Where you have a Prejudicial Interest you may attend the meeting but 

only for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or 
giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are 
also allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether 
under a statutory right or otherwise.  In such a case, you must 
withdraw from the meeting immediately after the period for 
making representations, answering questions, or giving evidence 
relating to the business has ended, and in any event before further 
consideration of the business begins, whether or not the public are 
allowed to remain in attendance for such consideration (Paragraph 14 
of the Code). 

 
4. Where you have agreement from the Monitoring Officer that the 

information relating to your Personal Interest is sensitive information, 
as set out in Paragraph 16 of the Code of Conduct, your obligation to 
disclose such information is replaced with an obligation to disclose the 
existence of a personal interest and to confirm that the Monitoring 
Officer has agreed that the nature of such personal interest is sensitive 
information. 

 
5. If you are relying on a grant of a dispensation by the Standards 

Committee, you must, before the matter is under consideration: 
 

i) Disclose orally both the interest concerned and the existence of 
the dispensation; and 

ii) Before or immediately after the close of the meeting give written 
notification to the Authority containing: 

 
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\2\0\8\AI00007802\$53dujfmh.doc 

a) Details of the prejudicial interest; 
b) Details of the business to which the prejudicial interest 

relates; 
c) Details of, and the date on which, the dispensation was 

granted; and  
d) Your signature 

 

Officers 

 
Financial Interests 
 
1. If an Officer has a financial interest in any matter which arises for 

decision at any meeting to which the Officer is reporting or at which the 
Officer is in attendance involving any member of the Council and /or 
any third party the Officer shall declare an interest in that matter and 
take no part in the consideration or determination of the matter and 
shall withdraw from the meeting while that matter is considered.  Any 
such declaration made in a meeting of a constitutional body shall be 
recorded in the minutes of that meeting.  No Officer shall make a report 
to a meeting for a decision to be made on any matter in which s/he has 
a financial interest. 

 
2. A “financial interest” is defined as any interest affecting the financial 

position of the Officer, either to his/her benefit or to his/her detriment.  It 
also includes an interest on the same basis for any member of the 
Officers family or a close friend and any company firm or business from 
which an Officer or a member of his/her family receives any 
remuneration.  There is no financial interest for an Officer where a 
decision on a report affects all of the Officers of the Council or all of the 
officers in a Department or Service. 

 

Page 2



 
 

CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA 

 
MINUTES OF THE RIGHTS OF WAY AND COMMONS SUB COMMITTEE 

 
HELD AT COMMITTEE ROOM 3, CIVIC CENTRE, SWANSEA ON 

WEDNESDAY, 23 APRIL 2014 
AT 2.00 PM 

 

 
 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Raynor (Chair) Presided 
 

Councillor(s):  Councillor(s): Councillor(s): 
   

A M Cook  R V Smith T M White 
P M Meara   
  
Officers:   

 
S Richards  - Principal Lawyer  
M Workman  - Rights of Way Officer  
S Collins - Democratic Services Officer  
 
 
   

 
 

34 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor K E Marsh and L J Tyler-Lloyd. 

35 DISCLOSURES OF PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS. 
 
In accordance with the provisions of the Code of Conduct adopted by the City and  
County of Swansea the following interest was declared; 
 
Minute No. 39 – Alleged Public Footpath from Footpath No.11 to Footpath No.10 –  
Community of Ilston - Councillor R V Smith – Personal – I know the occupants of  
Gelli Deg. 
 

36 MINUTES. 
 
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Meeting of the Rights of Way and Commons 
Sub-Committee held on 26 February 2014 be accepted as a correct record subject 
to the following amendments:     
 
Minute No. 32 - Members queried that funding should be up spent on improving well 
used paths rather than opening up long abandoned paths. 
 
 Minute No. 32(3) - The Chair writes a letter to the Head of Economic Regeneration 
 and Planning to request clarification on Section 106 arrangements within 

Agenda Item 5

Page 3



Minutes of the Rights of Way and Commons Sub Committee (23.04.2014) 
Cont’d 

 

 developments; providing a copy to the Local Ward Member. 
 
 

37 ACTIVE TRAVEL PLAN PROGRESS REPORT. 
 
 
The Transport Strategy Officer was not present. 
 
 AGREED that: 
 

(1) the item be deferred to the next meeting of the Committee; 
 
(2) the Transport Strategy Officer provides an updated progress report on 

the Active Travel Plan and attend the next scheduled meeting of the 
Committee.  

 
 

38 AN ANOMALY AT THE JUNCTION OF BRIDLEWAY AND FOOTPATH NO.10 - 
COMMUNITY OF ILSTON. 
 
The Rights of Way Officer presented a report which considered the justification for 
either upgrading footpath No. 10 to a bridleway or downgrading bridleway No. 10 to 
a footpath. 
 
The report provided the evidence to show that no Modification Order could be made 
given the lack of specific user evidence by those who allege to have ridden footpath 
No. 10. 
 
The Committee discussed and considered the recommendation made within the 
report. 
 
           RESOLVED that no Modification Order be made. 
 
 

39 ALLEGED PUBLIC FOOTPATH FROM FOOTPATH NO.11 TO FOOTPATH NO.10 
- COMMUNITY OF ILSTON. 
 
The Rights of Way Officer presented a report which considered whether a public 
footpath exists between points A-B-C as detailed in Appendix 8 of the report. 
 
The report provided the evidence to show that no Modification Order could be made 
given the insufficient evidence of continuous use by the public at large. 
 
The Committee discussed and considered the recommendation made within the   
Report. 
 
The Rights of Way Officer stated that consideration could be revisited should 
sufficient evidence be presented at a future date.  
 
           RESOLVED that no Modification Order be made. 

Page 4



Minutes of the Rights of Way and Commons Sub Committee (23.04.2014) 
Cont’d 

 

 
 
 
DATE OF NEXT MEETING - 2.00 P.M. ON WEDNESDAY 18 JUNE 2014 

 
RESOLVED that the date of the next meeting be noted. 
 
 
 The meeting ended at 2.25 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR 

Page 5



 
 

Report of the Director of Place   
 

Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee – 18 June 2014 

 
ACTIVE TRAVEL (WALES) ACT PROGRESS REPORT 

 
 
Purpose: The report presents an update on the works associated 

with the Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013. 
 
Report Author: Ben George  
 
Finance Officer: Kim Lawrence  
 
Legal Officer: Sandie Richards 
 
Access to  
Services Officer: Phil Couch 
 
FOR INFORMATION 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 received royal assent in 
November 2013 but is not yet in force; the commencement order is 
expected to be made by the end of 2014. The Act, which is 
considered to be a world first, makes it a legal requirement for local 
authorities in Wales to map and plan for suitable routes for active 
travel, and to build and improve their infrastructure for walking and 
cycling every year. It creates new duties for highways authorities to 
consider the needs of walkers and cyclists and make better 
provision for them. It also requires both the Welsh Government and 
local authorities to promote walking and cycling as a mode of 
transport. 

1.2 By connecting key sites such as workplaces, hospitals, schools and 
shopping areas with active travel routes, the Act will encourage 
people to rely less on their cars when making short journeys.1 

2. Requirements 

2.1 The legislation contains three principal requirements to which Local 
Authorities must conform. 

2.2 First, that the Local Authority will provide a map of currently 
available Active Travel Routes. The routes contained in the map 
must either conform to the Active Travel Standard (discussed 
below), or where it provides a link to a key service such as schools, 

                                            
1
 Welsh Government, November 2013. “Active Travel Wales Act” 

Agenda Item 6

Page 6



 
 

hospitals, places of employment and/or retail. The maps will cover 
all communities with a population of 2,000 or greater and the 
communities considered to conform to this threshold have been 
identified by the Welsh Government in a Consultation document 
published in November 2013. Whilst the Local Authorities are now 
awaiting the outcome of this consultation and the formal list of 
communities, it is expected that largely the whole of the City & 
County of Swansea area will be included, with the possible 
exclusion of Gower. 

2.3 This map is to be published as a hard copy and distributed to the 
public. 

2.4 The second element of the legislation requires that the local 
authority will prepare a second map which sets out all of the 
programmed and anticipated Active Travel schemes which may be 
delivered over the next five years (2014 – 2018). These routes also 
need to be publicly accessible, but does not need to be published 
in hard form and can therefore be presented electronically if 
appropriate. 

2.5 The final element of the Act is to make good progress against 
realising the elements defined in the second map to ensure that the 
routes are continually improved and built upon. This does not 
therefore require simply that new routes will be constructed each 
year, but that the network will be improved in some way. 

2.6 Whilst these are the principle requirements of the Act there is a 
further significant implication. The Active Travel (Wales) Act also 
interfaces directly with the Highways Act and principally with 
sections 3, 4, 9 and 12. These sections deal with the ‘Creation’, 
‘Improvement’, ‘Maintenance’ and ‘Interference’ of the Highway and 
require that when any works are undertaken that consideration be 
given as to how measures which promote Active Travel could be 
incorporated. 

3. Guidance 

3.1 The Welsh Government is currently preparing a draft guidance 
document to advise on the Active Travel (Wales) Act standard 
infrastructure. The guidance will therefore describe best practice 
and the forms of route which are required in order to conform to the 
expectations of the Act. This draft guidance document is due to be 
published in May 2014 and will be subject to a 12 week public 
consultation prior to being revised and formally published in the 
autumn of 2014. 

 

 

Page 7



 
 

4. Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
4.1 Compliance with the Active Travel Act will require that a network of 

routes are identified which will meet the requirements of the Active 
Travel Act Design Guidance. The standards set out in this document 
are expected to advocate routes which are usable by users of all 
physical abilities.  

4.2 It is expected that the Council will need to thoroughly consult with Local 
Disability Groups in particular to ensure that the needs of those 
represented by the groups are recognised and accommodated. 

 
4.3     An overall Equality Impact Assessment for the programme will be 

produced detailing how improvements will be designed to address the 
needs of the various groups.  

 
5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Active Travel Act imposes duties upon the local authorities in 

Wales. While non-compliance does not carry any penalty as set out as 
set out within the legislation, it could be used as a legal challenge in 
any planning dispute. 

 
6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 The requirements of the Active Travel Act are being part funded by the 

Welsh Government, inasmuch as the baseline mapping cost has been 
grant funded. The second phase of mapping may or may not be funded 
directly by the Welsh Government.  

 
6.2 The construction of new infrastructure or the improvement of existing 

routes are to be funded wholly by the Local Authority, whether that be 
from Council budgets or through conventional grant funding streams.  
The Council currently spends over £100,000 in support of walking and 
cycling each year and whilst based on current knowledge it is probable 
that the continuation of this level of funding is likely to satisfy this new 
statutory requirement this cannot be confirmed until the act is enabled 
and the implication of its introduction together with the WG guidance is 
fully understood. 

  
FOR INFORMATION 
 
 
Background papers: None. 
 
Appendices:  None. 
 

Page 8



Report of the Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement 
 

Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee – 18 June 2014 
 

APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND KNOWN AS THE GREEN, ACCESSED OFF 
Y LLWYNI, LLANGYFELACH, SWANSEA AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN 

 
APPLICATION NO. 2729(S) 

 
 

Purpose: 
 

To inform the Sub-Committee of the proposal to 
hold a non-statutory inquiry.  
 

Policy Framework: 
 

None 

Statutory Tests: Section 15 Commons Act 2006 
  
Reason for Decision: For information 
   

Consultation: Legal, Finance, Access to Services. 
 
Report Author: Sandie Richards 
  
Finance Officer: Sarah Willis 
 
Legal Officer: Nigel Havard 
  

Access to Services 
Officer:  

Phil Couch 

 

 
1.0 Introduction  

 
1.1 The Council has received an application made by Mrs. Margaret E. Boyter  

under Section 15(2) of the Commons Act 1996 in respect of land known 
locally as The Green, Accessed off Y Llwyni, Llangyfelach, Swansea.  The 
application seeks to register the land as a Town or Village Green.  A plan of 
the land in question appears as Appendix 1. 

 
2.0 History of the Application 
 
2.1 The land is predominantly owned by this Council and the Council has made 

an objection to the application. 
 
2.2 The Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement has used the 

delegated authority granted by this Committee on 15th February 2012 to 
instruct Counsel to advise on the application and the appropriate procedure to 
be adopted in determining the application. 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 9



2.3 Counsel has advised that there are issues of fact and law in dispute and that it 
would be appropriate to hold a non-statutory inquiry.  The holding of such an 
inquiry will ensure that evidence from both the Applicant and the Objectors 
can be heard and tested and the issues examined and argued over. 

 
2.4 Once the inquiry has taken place Counsel will issue a report with 

recommendations for this Committee to consider and make a decision upon. 
 

3.0 Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
3.1 There are no Equality and Engagement implications to this report. 

 
4.0 Legal Implications 

 
4.1 The Council in its role as Commons Registration Authority has a statutory 

duty pursuant to Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 and the Commons 
(Registration of Town or Village Greens) (Interim Arrangements) (Wales) 
Regulations 2007 to determine applications for land to be registered as a town 
or village green. 
 

4.2 The effect of registration of land as a town or village green is that it is 
protected from development for ever and preserved for use by local people. 

 
4.3 The land is predominantly owned by the City & County of Swansea and a 

conflict arises as the Council is both the Commons Registration Authority and 
the objecting owner of the land.  These roles have to remain separate as far 
as possible so as to minimise challenge by way of judicial review.  The 
application must be considered purely on the merits of the case by applying 
the relevant law and in accordance with the principles of natural justice.  The 
usual way of overcoming the conflict caused by the dual role is by the holding 
of a non-statutory inquiry. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 The cost of each inquiry varies as it is dependent on the complexity of each 

individual application.  There is no specific budget identified for the 
expenditure incurred for the determination of applications but expenditure will 
need to be incurred from existing budget provisions.   

 
5.2 If the land is designated as a Town or Village Green it will not be available for 

sale or development in the future. 
 
Background papers:  Application file. 
 
Appendices: Appendix 1: Plan of the application site 

 

Page 10



Y-W
ERN

PA
N

T-
Y-

B
LO

D
A
U

Y
W

A
U
N

FA
C
H

H
E

O
L

W
A

U
N

W
E

N

M
A
E
S
-Y-D

D
E
R
W

E
N

D
E
LFA

N

BRYN
Y

Y
R

H
A

F
O

D

DOLAU

P
E

N
Y

M
A

E
S

11

1

9
4

8
881

7
6

75

7
4

7
3

7
2

70

6
7

6
5

5
4

52
4

8

4
4

42

4
1

40

3
9

3
7

36

3
5

34

32

31

3
0

28

27

25

24

23

2
2

21

20

19

17

16

15

1
4

13

1
2

7

10

2

9

8

3

6

5

4

El

Sta

9

2

3

5

21

1
4

1

10

11

11

10

6

2
1

1

6

3
2

7

17

1
4

27

7

34

32

13

9

25

4
0

1
7

15

1

13

2

23

22

12
19

1
6

2

1 2

8

Y LLWYNI

CAE PENPANT

GORS

Y

49

44

38

3
3

2
9

2
7

1
81

5

Sub

2

11

1
3

1
6

3
1

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2012.
Ordnance Survey 100023509

© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata
2012.  Arolwg Ordnans 100023509

�
Application for Registration of Town or Village Green

Section 15 Commons Act 2006

Land at Y Llwyni, Llangyfelach

Application No. 2729(S)

CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA

SCALE 1:1250

Area subject to
  application

APPENDIX 1

Page 11



Report of the Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement  
 

Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee - 18 June 2014  
 

ALLEGED PUBLIC FOOTPATH FROM PENTRECHWYTH ROAD TO 
BROKESBY ROAD AND FOOTPATH NO. 451 

- COMMUNITY OF BONYMAEN  

 
 
Purpose: 
 

 
To determine the application as required by the 
provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981.  
 

Policy Framework: 
 

The Countryside Access Policy No. 4.  
 

Statutory Tests:  
 

S. 53(2) and 53(3)(b) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  
 

Reason for Decision:  
 

Evidence being sufficient to show the paths have 
been dedicated.  
 

Consultation: 
 

The British Horse Society, The Open Spaces 
Society, Natural Resources Wales, The Ramblers 
Association, local representatives of The British 
Horse Society and the Ramblers Association, two 
Local Members, Treasurer of the adjacent and 
former Canaan Congregational Chapel, 
Developer of the other adjacent property no 94 
Pentrechwyth Rd, This Council’s officers within:-  
Parks Operations, Highways Control and 
Coordination, Streetscene, Crime Prevention and 
Housing.   

 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that a Modification Order be 

made.  
 

Report Author: M. J. Workman 
  
Finance Officer: S. Willis  
 
Legal Officer: 
 
Access to Services 
Officer: 

S. Richards  
 
P. Couch  

 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 An application was submitted on the 3rd March 2013 to register a 50 metre 

length of path which passes alongside the Canaan Congregational Chapel 
which closed in the same month.  Plan No. 1 shows the length concerned 

Agenda Item 8

Page 12



between points A and B.  The claim was initially supported by eight people 
who apart from two allege use in excess of twenty years.  On the 7th 
November 2013 a further six user evidence forms were submitted, each 
signatory having alleged a minimum of twenty years use.  

1.2 All the usual individuals and organisations have been consulted and one 
objection has been made by the person who converted the former New Inn 
public house into a residential property, which is situated immediately to the 
west and adjacent to the path.  That developer enclosed the path with two 
boards at either end of the path, although the path  is not shown in the Land 
Registry and to date no one has provided any proof of title. 

 
2.0 Grounds for Recognising the Path as a Public Right of Way  
 
2.1 The provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 oblige the Council to 

continually review its Definitive Map and Statement being the legal record of 
all known public rights of way.  (Appendix 1 includes the relevant sub-section.)  
The former Swansea Borough Council was excluded from the review of public 
paths in the early 1950’s which  lead to the production of the Definitive Map 
and Statement.  However a number of modification orders have been made 
for paths in this area and so it now forms part of the Definitive Map. 

 
2.2 The common means by which a path is made the subject of a modification 

order, is where here has been a minimum period of twenty years 
uninterrupted use.  That period is calculated by counting retrospectively from 
either the first occasion the alleged right to use the way is brought into 
question or from the date of the application, whichever is the earlier.  
Appendix 2 includes the relevant sub-section of Section 31 of the Highways 
Act 1980 which provides the grounds for recognising the statutory 
presumption that a way has been dedicated to the public. 

 
3.0 The Evidence  
 
3.1 In or around March 2013, the person referred to in paragraph 2.1 closed the 

path and so as a result, the application was submitted to this Council. It is 
contended the path  has been open and use has been continuous  throughout 
the whole of the period being claimed, 1993-2013.  

 
3.2 The total number of people who have provided evidence comprises fifteen 

who allege an average of forty years use, seven of whom have been 
interviewed, three who state they have each used the path for the full twenty 
year period. The Secretary to the Canaan Chapel has also claimed to have 
been making use of the path throughout the whole twenty years to inspect the 
rear of the premises  In addition both Local Members have been interviewed, 
one of whom has also stated to have used the way for the full twenty year 
period. Lastly a resident of Grenfell Town (Road) who was not one of the 
claimants, but was met on a site visit, confirmed she also has used the path 
for each of the twenty years concerned 

 
 
 
 

Page 13



 The Routes Claimed  
 
3.3 The majority of public paths, as would be expected, lead from one public path 

to another or provide a link between two carriageways that is a street or a 
road.  A lesser number may terminate at a place of interest, view point, or as 
is the case in Gower, at mean high water level. 

 
3.4 The application specified the route A-B but point B, terminates on a path 

which is not recorded as a public one.  It is evident that the path continues in 
two directions from point B, one being B-D, where point D does terminate on 
the registered public path no.381. The other extension of the path is B-C 
where point C terminates on Brokesby Road being an adopted public 
highway.   So whilst the claim did not include these two additional lengths of 
path, the Council is obliged to consider any evidence which shows a path has 
public status.  This is set out in sub-section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (Appendix 1), that is, the discovery by the Authority of 
evidence which (when considered with all other relevant evidence to them) 
shows that a right of way exists.  The additional length B-C and B-D are 
wholly under the ownership of this Council. 

 
3.5 Those interviewed were therefore asked to clarify the route they have taken 

from point B and a second batch of six evidence forms did identify on the 
plans, these additional lengths used by those individuals.   

 
3.6 The length A-B-C has been identified by eleven people, seven of whom claim 

continuous use from 1993-2013.  The former secretary to the Canaan Chapel, 
only claims to have used A-B periodically, as he needed to check on the 
condition of the chapel throughout the relevant period (and in fact before 
1993).    

 
3.7 The other reasons given for making use of the path, include to take children to 

Kilvey Hill, to visit the Liberty Stadium, to walk to Morrison’s for shopping, to 
use the local Gwyndy Stores (and previously other shops that once existed on 
Pentrechwyth Road), also to walk to Bonymaen Post Office, to distribute 
leaflets in the area, to walk to the local primary school, to visit the laundrette 
and to walk dogs.   

 
3.8 The path is currently overgrown with tall grass and some blackberry bushes 

but a worn and narrower path could still be identified running through the 
centre noted during a site visit on the 4th September 2013.  

 
3.9 According to those interviewed it has been assumed that the Council has 

been responsible for cutting back the vegetation along the path and 
responsible for installing a set of barriers approximately mid way along the 
path and at its south eastern end.  This allegedly was to prevent motorcyclists 
joy riding the path.  The two dates given by claimants as to when this was 
thought to have occurred was either 2009 or as early as the late 1990s. In the 
case of the latter date it is thought this was when other similar barriers were 
installed on Brokesby Road at its junction with Grenfell Town, shown by a line 
across this road at about point C. 

   

Page 14



3.10 The previous Council owned flats at Brokesby Close which occupied the now 
grassed open space between the rear of the houses of Pentrechwyth Road 
and Brokesby Road. The flats were demolished in or around 2003 / 2004 and 
the area landscaped in 2005 after the contract for the start date was issued in 
January of that year. 

 
3.11   This Council also installed the chicane at the southern entrance to the path at 

point B, placed the gate at the entrance to the path at point C and improved 
the steps and handrail at point D.  A photograph of these features was taken 
in 2005 and that from point B shows a worn path in the centre of the claimed 
public path between points A and B. 

 
3.12   A Traffic Regulation Order was made under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 

1984, which came into effect on the 3rd November 2006 to restrict vehicular 
access along these former estate roads.“Road” under that Act is defined as a 
place to which the public have access, as well as being a highway.  Therefore 
the Council had already recognised the public were using these roads.        
The path between points B1 and B2 has been retained from its former position 
as a footway which ran alongside the wider and previous estate road. The 
total width of path between C and B was an estate road although a narrower 
footway was positioned within the current width.     

 
4.0 Evidence against the Application  
 
4.1 The person responsible for closing access along the path between points A 

and B, has not provided any reason why the public could not have enjoyed the 
access as claimed throughout the relevant period. He submitted a photograph 
of the New Inn public house dated June 2009 which appears to show a path 
alongside, passing between vegetation. 

 
4.2 The developer wished to point out there is alternative means of access to 

Grenfell Town and Brokesby Road via Footpath No. 381 shown between 
points E and D. However this in itself would not undermine the validity of the 
application.  How suitable or what amenity value the path may provide would 
not be facts that can be taken into account in deciding whether the path 
should be registered as a public one.  

 
5.0 Distribution of Claimants/Specialist User Groups 
 
5.1  Another issue which commonly occurs when “urban” paths are the subject of 

a claim is whether the use is by the public at large, rather than by a more 
limited number of people who reside in the adjacent streets.  In the case of the 
latter, the question arises as to whether a limited number of  residents can be 
said to represent the general public.  The two cases which specifically dealt 
with this point are contained in Appendix 3. 

 
5.2 In order to assess this possibility Plan Nos. 2 and 3 show the approximate 

location of where the claimants live.   
 
 

Page 15



5.3 Whilst it is inevitable that the majority of those who use the path will live in 
reasonably close proximity to the path, there are four who live outside the 
immediate vicinity of the path who themselves have claimed to have made 
regular use, for each year throughout the relevant period. 

 
6.0 Conclusion  
 
6.1 In the absence of any counter evidence, it is clear that the path has been in 

use for the period 1993-2013 and that the use is uninterrupted.  Whilst the 
majority of those who made use of the path do live in a relatively confined 
area there are a contingent who do not.  Consequently the test as to whether 
it is reasonable to allege a public path exists via the route A-B-C as a public 
right of way can be satisfied. 

 
 Recommended: That a Modification Order be made for the path A-B-C and if 

no objections are made to confirm the same as unopposed.  
 
7.0 Route B-D 
 
7.1 This additional section is evidently a well-defined path which has been 

constructed for public use.  There are steps at approximately point D with 
handrails to assist pedestrians and is a continuation of Footpath No. 381, 
which extends for 92 metres. 

 
7.2 This section was not included in the application and of the seven persons 

interviewed; five have indicated they have used this path, although only three 
have said they have done so throughout the relevant period 1993-2013.  One 
other who was not interviewed claims use of the path between 1993-1998. 

 
7.3 One of the three interviewed lives in Llansamlet and outside the immediate 

vicinity of the path.  The only other confirmed evidence of long term use is by 
the two who live in Pentrechwyth Road.  Consequently on the numbers of 
those who can show such use, as well as their distribution, it is difficult to 
conclude on the evidence that has been forwarded, that the path has been 
used by the public at large.   

 
7.4 Whilst the currently recorded evidence of use is limited, the path has 

nonetheless been in existence since at least 1948, the route being depicted in 
the 1950 edition of the ordnance survey plan with a survey date of two years 
earlier. It is under the ownership of this Council and formed one of the paths 
when Brokesby Close was in existence from about the 1960s until they were 
demolished by the early 1990s.      

 
7.5    The land is under the management of the Council’s Housing Department and 

the surrounding grass being maintained by the Parks Department.  The path 
is tarmacked, contains street lighting and at point D steps and a handrail. As 
such there is clear evidence that not only has this Council acquiesced to 
public use, but has encouraged and made access more convenient for the 
public. Under such circumstances it could be concluded that there has been 
an express dedication of the path to the public and that has been accepted by 
the public. 

Page 16



 
7.6    There is also evidence that the path has been in existence since 1948 and 

provided access for those who also lived at Brokesby Close.  
 
 
7.7    This path also connects to the currently registered public path no 381. This 

short section of path was the subject of a declaration by the former Chief 
Executive of Council of the City of Swansea in in 1980 under Section 34 of the 
Highways Act 1959, to the effect the Council recognised the existence of this 
public path. At that time this path provided access to Brokesby Close and 
Pentrechwyth Infants School.  Brokesby Close was then not adopted as a 
public highway, but since those properties were demolished, the path has 
resumed its former function as an alternative means of access running parallel 
to Pentrechwyth Road. 

 
7.8     Given the manner in which this path has been managed it could be concluded 

that there has been a dedication under common law of the path B to D and 
therefore be made the subject of a modification order.   

  
 Recommended:  That a Modification Order be made for the length of path B 

to D and if there are no objections to confirm the same as unopposed.  
 
8.0 Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
 The decision as to whether to make a modification order has to be based on 

the evidence and so the desirability, convenience or suitability of recognising 
the path as a public one can be considered.  As such an equality impact 
assessment is not required.  

 
9.0 Financial Implications 
 
 There are no financial implications to making a modification order.  
 
10.0 Legal Implications 
 
 There are none other than the tests set out in the report. 
 
 

Background Papers:  ROW-000203 
 

 
Appendices:   Appendix 1 - Extract from the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
   Appendix 2 - Extract from the Highways Act 1980 
   Appendix 3 - Special User Group  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



 
 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT, 1981 
 

Section 53 Duty to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review. 

 

(2) As regards every Definitive Map and Statement, the Surveying Authority shall: 

 

(a) as soon as reasonably practical after commencement date, by order 

make such modifications to the map and statement as appear to them 

to be requisite in consequence of the occurrence, before that date, of 

any of the events specified in Sub-Section 3; and 

 

(b) as from that date, keep the map and statement under continuous 

review and as soon as reasonably practicable after the occurrence on 

or after that date, of any of those events, by order make such 

modifications to the map and statement as appear to them to be 

requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event. 

 

(3) The events referred to in Sub-Section 2 are as follows: 

 

(b) the expiration, in relation to anyway in the area to which the map 

relates of any period such that the enjoyment by the public of the way 

during that period rises a presumption that the way has been dedicated 

as a public path or restricted byway; 

 

(c) the discovery by the Authority of evidence which (when considered with 

all other relevant evidence available to them) shows:  

 

(i) that a right of way which is not shown on the map and statement 

subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area 

to which the map relates, being a right of way such that the land 

over which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway 

or, subject to Section 54A a byway open to all traffic; 

Page 18



 

(ii) that a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of 

a particular description ought to be there shown as a highway of 

a different description; 

 

(iii) that there is no public right of way over land shown in the map 

and statement as a highway of any description or any other 

particulars contained in the map and statement require 

modification.  

  

Page 19



APPENDIX 2 

   

  HIGHWAYS ACT, 1980 

  

 Section 31.  Dedication of way as a highway presumed after public 

use for 20 years. 

  

 Where a public way over land, other than a way of such a character 

that use of it by the public could not give rise at common law to any 

presumption of dedication, has actually been enjoyed by the public 

as of right and without interruption of a full period of 20 years, the 

way is deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is 

sufficient evidence that there was no intention during this period to 

dedicate it. 

  

 For Section 31(1) Highways Act, 1981 to operate and give rise to a 

presumption of dedication the following criteria must be satisfied: 

  

 - the physical nature of the path must be such as is capable of 

being a public right of way 

 - the use must be ‘bought into question’, i.e. challenged or disputed 

in some way 

 - use must have taken place without interruption over the period of 

twenty years before the date on which the right is brought into 

question 

 - use must be as of right i.e. without force, without stealth or without 

permission and in the belief that the route was public 

 - there must be insufficient evidence that the landowner did not 

intend to dedicate a right of type being claimed  

 - use must be by the public at large 

 
 
  

Page 20



APPENDIX 3 
 

SPECIAL USER GROUPS 
 
 
(a) The Planning Inspectorate has produced advice on this matter in that 

they say there is no strict legal interpretation of the term ‘public’.  The 

dictionary definition being ‘the people as a whole’ or ‘the community in 

general’.  Arguably and sensibly that use should be by a number of 

people who together may be taken to represent the people as a 

whole/the community. 

  

 However, Coleridge L J in R -v- Residents of Southampton 1887 said 

that “’use by the public’ must not be taken in its widest sense - for it is 

a common knowledge that in many cases only the local residents ever 

use a particular road or bridge.  Consequently, use wholly or largely 

by local people may be use by the public as depending on the 

circumstances of the case, that use could be by a number of people 

who may sensibly be taken to represent the local people as a 

whole/the local community”. 

  

(b) In contrast to this view was the decision made by Lord Parke in Poole 

-v- Huskinson 1834 who concluded: “there may be dedication to the 

public for a limited purposeFbut there cannot be dedication to a 

limited part of the public”.  This case was quoted by an Inspector in 

1997 appointed to consider an application to add a public bridleway to 

the Definitive Map for North Yorkshire County Council.  Here the route 

had also been in use for 40 to 50 years.  That Inspector concluded: “In 

the case before Lord Parke, residents of the same parish were held to 

constitute a limited part of the public and I therefore believe the 

inhabitants of the Parish of Cliffs should also be held to constitute a 

limited part”.  The Inspector refused to confirm the Order. 

 

Page 21



G
R

E
N
F
E
LL

TO
W

N

Drain

11
0

11
2

45.7m

47.2m

33.5m

42.9m

105

100

10
6

10
9

1

47

2

3

4

5

8

9

10 14

96

88

83

81 80

75
71

67

64

60

59

53

15

42
41

40

38

35

34

32

28

22

16

Track

Issues

CTk

El S
ub

Sta

School

Chapel

a

22

32

GRENFELL TOWNSt Peter's

P
O

PH

Sunday

b

Playground

80

Issues

�

Scale  1 1250
(Approx)

© Crown Copyright and database right 2014.
Ordnance Survey 100023509

© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawl cronfa ddata
2014. Yr Arolwg Ordnans 100023509.

Alleged Public Footpath 

A

B

Grid Ref SS 669950

A B

C

D

E

Plan No.1

Existing Public Footpath

E D

B1

B2

Page 22



B
O

46
7

B
O
482

B
O

4
8
1

267200.600915

267200.600915

1
9

4
7

6
2

.6
6

7
2

3
9

1
9

4
7

6
2

.6
6

7
2

3
9

1
9

5
7

6
2

.6
6

7
2

3
9

1
9

5
7

6
2

.6
6

7
2

3
9

�
© Crown Copyright and database right 2014.

Ordnance Survey 100023509

© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawl cronfa ddata
2014. Yr Arolwg Ordnans 100023509.F

Plan No 2

Approximate location of claimants 

Scale 1:5000

Page 23



L
T

3
9

8

LT
4
5
9

LT
4
0
8L

T
4
6
0

LT
39

7

LT393

LT396

LT397A

LT
4
6
1

LT407

BO394

LT
402

LT412

LT
382

LT394B

LT400

L
T

3
9

2

LT463

LT
3
9
4
A

LT
3
9
8

LT
3
9
7

LT397

LT397

LT
39

3

LT
39

8

LT
3
9
8

LT396

LT394A

2
6
8
6

3
2
.5

0
1
9

4
8

2
6
8
6

3
2
.5

0
1
9

4
8

2
6
9
6

3
2
.5

0
1
9

4
8

2
6
9
6

3
2
.5

0
1
9

4
8

1961
58.709882

1961
58.709882

1971
58.709882

1971
58.709882

�

S
c
a

le
  

1
 8

0
0

0

1
5

P
la

n
 N

o
 3

C
ro

w
n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g

h
t 
a

n
d
 d

a
ta

b
a
s
e
 r

ig
h
t 

2
0
1

4
 

O
rd

n
a
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 1

0
0

0
2

3
5
0

9
H

a
w

lf
ra

in
t 
y
 G

o
ro

n
 a

 h
a
w

l 
c
ro

n
fa

 d
d
a

ta
 2

0
1
4

Y
e

t 
A

ro
lw

g
 O

rd
n

a
n
s
 1

0
0
0

2
3
5

0
9

Page 24



 
 

Report of the Head of Legal Democratic Services and Procurement 
 

Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee - 18 June 2014 
 

ALLEGED PUBLIC FOOTPATH FROM LANDOR DRIVE TO THE CROFT - 
COMMUNITY OF LOUGHOR 

 
 

Purpose: 
 

To amend the report as required by this Sub-
Committee on the 26th February 2014 

  
Policy Framework: 
 

Countryside Access Plan 
 

Reason for Decision:  
 

To inform the Sub-Committee 
 

Consultation: 
 

Not applicable  

Recommendation(s): To note and agree the required amendments.  
  
Report Author: M. J. Workman. 
  
Finance Officer: S. Willis 
 
Legal Officer: S. Richards 

 
Access to Services 
Officer: 

P. Couch 

 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 At the Committee meeting on the 26th February 2014 it was noted 

some of the text in the report under the heading “the Possible 
Existence of a Public Path via G-F” did not correspond to the letters on 
Plan No. 3. 

 
1.2 It was decided an amended report should be submitted to this Sub-

Committee.  The appended report has been reproduced in full with the 
required changes. 

 
2. Recommendations  
 
 This Sub-Committee to accept the changes made to the report as 

attached. 
 
3. Equality and Engagement Implications  
 
 The decision to make the Modification has already been made at the 

meeting of the 26th February 2014.  Consequently an Equality and 
Engagement Assessment is not applicable. 

Agenda Item 9

Page 25



 
 

4. Legal Implications  
 
 There are none from this report. 
 
5. Financial Implications  
 
 There are no financial implications.  
 
 

 
Background Papers:  row 203 
 
 

 
Appendices:  Appendix A - The previous report of the 26th February 2014 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 
 

Appendix A 
 

Report of the Head of Legal Democratic Services and Procurement 
 

Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee - 26 February 2014 
 

ALLEGED PUBLIC FOOTPATH FROM LANDOR DRIVE TO THE CROFT - 
COMMUNITY OF LOUGHOR 

 

Purpose: 
 

To consider whether: 
 

 (a) to record the claimed public path in to the 
Definitive Map and Statement; 

   
 (b) to amend the current position of footpath 

No. 43. 
  
Policy Framework: 
 

The Countryside Access Policy No. 4. 
 

Statutory Text: Section 53(2) and 53(3)(b) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 

  
Reason for Decision:  
 

There is sufficient evidence to show the claimed 
route has been used as of right and without 
interruption for the requisite minimum period of 20 
years that the path should be made the subject of 
a Modification Order. There is also evidence to 
show that footpath No 43 ought to be shown in a 
different alignment and that part of this path  
should be deleted.   
 

Consultation: 
 

The Byways and Bridleways Trust, The Ramblers 
Association, The local representative of the 
Ramblers Association, The British Horse Society, 
The Local representative of the British Horse 
Society, The Open Spaces Society, The 
Countryside Council for Wales, The owner of the 
land containing a local resident living adjacent to 
the path and the Local Member. 

 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that a Modification Order be 

made. 
  
Report Author: M. J. Workman. 
  
Finance Officer: S. Willis 
 
Legal Officer: 
 
Access to Services 
Officer: 

S. Richards 
 
P. Couch 

Page 27



 
 

1. Background 
 
1.1 An application has been made to register a public path from a point 

commencing on a tarmacked path between House Nos. 64 and 66 
Landor Drive to the hammerhead of the road known as “The Croft” (as 
shown on Plan No. 1) via A-B-C-D-E-G. Under the provisions of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 this Council is obliged to determine 
the claim.  The principles under which a public path could be 
recognised are set out under Appendix 1, the relevant extract from the 
1981 Act being contained in Appendix 2. 

 
THE BASIS OF THE APPLICATION 

 
1.2 The application made on the 23rd February 2010, was originally 

supported by the submission of 31 user evidence forms, although a 
further five were subsequently added later that year, reflecting an 
average of 16 years’ use for the 36 persons supporting the claim. In 
2013 a further four user evidence forms were submitted three of whom 
each claim to have enjoyed use for the minimum period of 20 years.  
So 17 of these persons have themselves claimed to have walked the 
route for a minimum of twenty years.  Therefore, the application is 
based on there having been sufficient long-term use under Section 31 
of the Highways Act 1980 to show the way has been the subject of a 
presumed dedication as a public footpath.  The relevant extract is 
contained in Appendix 3.   

 
1.3 The plans attached to the user evidence forms varied in their depiction 

of the route, but further clarification was sought from the 11 people who 
were subsequently interviewed as to its precise alignment.  The route 
shown on Plan No. 1 best represents what has been claimed.   

 
 The section of path that passes between House Nos. 64 and 66 

between points A - B is under the ownership of this Council and was 
acquired as an Open Space from those who developed the earlier 
housing at Landor Drive.  The path is tarmacked and positioned 
alongside the southern boundary, with the remaining width of the gap 
being grass.  A site visit on the 5 March 2010 revealed much of the 
field containing the remaining length of path had been cleared of 
vegetation given the land was the subject of outline planning 
permission to build four homes (reference 2009/1216).  Where the path 
proceeded west from point B stone slabs had been placed along an 
approximate length of 10 – 15 metres. Also a telegraph pole marked 
the approximate position of the path where it curves south west from 
point C. 

 
1.4 One point of terminus of the alleged footpath joins the existing Public 

Footpath No. 43 at point D.  However, the public deviates from the 
recorded position of this footpath by walking from point E to G rather 
than E-F before joining The Croft.  Consequently, the legal status of 
two sections of path need to be considered, that is A-B-C-D and E-G. 

Page 28



 
 

 
1.5 All the usual organisations, individuals and landowners have been 

consulted.  The owners of the field B-C-D-E have objected, as has one 
of the residents living in close proximity to the alleged public path 
between points A-B. 

 
THE PLANNING PERMISSION 

 
1.6 Outline consent was granted for four detached dwellings with detached 

garages at the Area Development Control Committee on 21st February 
2012.  Responses to the consultations resulted in a question on “what 
rights of way exist between Landor Drive and The Croft, given the 
previous developer of Landor Drive, Wilcons had donated the strip of 
path between points A and B as open space for use by the public”. 

 
1.7 The approved permission was subject to Condition 11: Notwithstanding 

the details on the on-site layout plan dated 2nd August 2011, “any future 
scheme shall include details of an unenclosed footpath between The 
Croft and Landor Drive.  Where the footpath would be enclosed 
adjoining Plot 4, the path should have a minimum width of 3m.  The 
footpath shall be completed and thereafter maintained in accordance 
with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.”  Plot 4 being the proposed dwelling nearest 
the rear of the properties at Landor Drive, that is south of point B. 

 
1.8 The above condition is evidently dependent on the implementation of 

any detailed consent.  One of the responses received was from the 
Local Member who wished to point out that until and if detailed consent 
is implemented, then there is no obligation on those developing the 
land to provide a path for the public.  

 
THE EVIDENCE 

 
2.1 The claim is based on the premise that the public have acquired the 

right to use the route due to the continuous and uninterrupted minimum 
period of twenty years referred to in paragraph 1.2.  Under Section 31 
of the Highways Act 1980, it is necessary to determine when the 
alleged existence of the public right of way was first called into question 
so that the relevant twenty year period can be calculated by counting 
retrospectively from this date.  The reason the application was made 
was due to the path being blocked in October 2009, when a fence was 
erected across the path at point B and a notice installed which read 
“No entry.  This is not a public footpath”.    Therefore, the claimants 
need to show there has been a continuous uninterrupted period of use 
from 1989-2009.   

 
2.2 The reasons given for using the path is primarily as a short cut to reach 

Castle Street and Glebe Road via The Croft shown on Plan No. 2.  29 
people said they visit the shops on Castle Street and, since 1997, the 
Spar Store.  20 said they use the path to access the bus stops; 16 to 

Page 29



 
 

reach the Post Office; four to take their children to the primary school 
and another three stated they knew others who use the path for this 
purpose.  Five others stated it was used to walk their dogs and another 
three said it was used for recreational reasons.  Previously, there was 
a butcher, baker and garage on Castle Street, which was another 
reason given for using the path.  Plan No. 2 identifies these current 
premises. 

 
2.3 14 claimants were interviewed and provided details of the use made of 

the path which are contained in Appendix 6. 
 

EVIDENCE SUBMITTED AGAINST THE RECOGNITION OF THE 
PATH A-B-C-D AS A PUBLIC FOOTPATH 

 
3.1 Two objections have been raised; one from the owner and occupier of     

one of the adjacent houses to the clamed public path and the other   
from the owner of the field containing the paths between points B-C-D. 

 
3.2 The first objection referred to has been based on the antisocial 

activities the occupier says have occurred within the lane between A-B.  
Therefore her concern is that recognising this footpath as a public one 
will only exacerbate or encourage more people to walk this way, 
therefore resulting in an increase in the problems she has already 
endured. 

 
3.3 A copy of the letter from this objector has been included in Appendix 7, 

which details the series of unfortunate incidents.  However, as has 
already been made clear to this objector, the issue before this Council 
is whether the public have a right to use the path and therefore any 
history of its misuse cannot be taken into account when evaluating the 
evidence. 

 
3.4 The other objection dated the 16th June 2010 was forwarded by the 

representative of the current owner of the field and the person who 
wishes to develop the land B-C-D-E. Copies of the objection letter and 
this Council’s response can be read in Appendix 8.  At a subsequent 
meeting the owner’s representatives raised further issues as discussed 
below. 

 
3.5 The previous owner, who also represents the current owner, stated that 

in 2000 he was working for twelve months when he was involved in the 
construction of House Nos. 7 and 8, The Croft as shown on Plan No. 3.  
He stated he saw no schoolchildren use the path nor being taken by 
their parents or older children to catch the bus.  He queried whether the 
most convenient bus stop is on Castle Road, given there is one at the 
Monument (shown as point BSh on Plan No. 2), this being a more 
convenient bus stop to which people would walk if they lived on Landor 
Drive.  

 

Page 30



 
 

3.6 When the houses on The Croft were being constructed the owners say 
The Croft would have been closed as it would have been a building 
site.  Also, the land at that time sloped from Castle Street to the field to 
the north. Consequently, machinery was transporting soil from the 
fields to raise the level of the land upon which The Croft and its houses 
was built.  Therefore, it would have been too dangerous for people to 
walk through the field and the development site prior to the building of 
the houses.  If the development of The Croft resulted in the closure of 
the claimed public path, this would have interrupted their use within the 
relevant period of 1989-2009.  However, none of the claimants have 
made any reference to this and three specifically stated access 
remained available. One person was clear that the “original” path was 
positioned to the west of and just inside the boundary wall of the 
Gospel Hall. Therefore it was not necessary to walk via what is now the 
Croft. Plan No. 3 shows the former location of the Hall,”GH” and the 
earlier path. Another person said that the houses on the eastern side of 
The Croft were built first and those on the western side built later and 
so when The Croft was set out it could be used throughout the housing 
development.  

 
3.7 In approximately 2001-2002, the previous owner of the field, together 

with his brother, said they dumped a 3-4 feet high mound of waste and 
earth in the field near point B on plan no.1.  This was to prevent 
unauthorised lorries reversing along the lane between points A and B 
and unloading spoil, garden waste and some commercial industrial 
waste onto their land.  They then discovered local residents were 
dumping garden waste on their land as they noted a worn path over the 
earth mound.  It was at this time they said they installed a timber 
barrier across the top of this mound.  They said the wooden barrier was 
pushed over so they had to reinstate a barrier over several years, but it 
was continually being damaged.  One of the Claimants stated she 
recalls a 2-3 feet high mound of soil being placed at this point 
sometime between 1995-2000 and also recalls a wooden barrier.  This 
made it difficult for the children to use but she said it only lasted a few 
weeks as it was removed by persons unknown. Two claimants stated 
they never remember seeing a barrier or mound and two others stated 
the previous landowner attempted to prevent access “but people 
continued to make their way through.”  Two others did not recall there 
was a problem, one of whom said it was quite common for garden 
waste to be dumped at this location. 

 
3.8 The owners also wish to point out that the Council’s Environmental 

Health Officers had also been in contact with them over the tipping 
which is why they took measures to block access. However due to the 
number of queries that section receives each year they are unable to 
provide any record of previous correspondence. The landowners have 
not been able to produce any copies of letters or photographs of the 
site at this location at this time.   

 

Page 31



 
 

3.9 The primary issue is whether the wooden barrier and mound of earth 
deposited in or around 2000 interrupted the continuous use of the path 
between 1989-2009.  According to one of the claimants, it only 
remained for a few weeks, yet according to the previous landowner 
efforts were made to repair the damage to the barrier before replacing 
it over a much longer period.  Assuming this act interrupted the 
continuous use, then the relevant period would be set back from 1980 
to 2000.  If this is correct, only one person can show use commencing 
as early as 1980 and he has already stated he would not wish to attend 
any public inquiry. 

 
3.10 It has also been pointed out that the butcher’s shop closed in about 

1990, the baker’s shop burned down in 1995 and the Spar stores 
opened in 1997.  Therefore, he questions how much use was made of 
the path during the early part of the 1990s.   

 
SPECIALIST USER GROUP 

 

3.11 Another issue which should be considered is whether those that made 
use of the path can be said to represent the general public.  The 
majority of those who use the path live at Landor Drive and reside in 
one particular part of that Estate.  However there are seven persons 
who do not.  Previous cases on such localised use are highlighted in 
Appendix 5 and the distribution of the Claimants has been plotted on 
Plan No. 4  Poole -v- Huskinson [1843] clearly shows there can be no 
dedication to a limited part of the public.  However, use by those who 
can represent the whole community could be said to represent the 
public.  Nonetheless the question arises as to whether there are 
sufficient number of people who do not live in Landor Drive that can be 
said to represent the whole community.  There is no user evidence 
available to show this path existed prior to the housing development at 
Landor Drive although there is evidence of access to footpath No. 43 
from Castle Street.  It is evident the path was only used once these 
homes were built.  No persons living toward the eastern end of Landor 
Drive have stated that they have made use of the path, which may 
reflect that their preferred means of access to Glebe Road and Castle 
Road is via Glanymor Park Drive.  

 
CONCLUSION 

 
THE SECTION A-B-C-D 

 
4.1 The first issue to determine is whether there has been a minimum 

period of twenty years’ use prior to the first occasion the alleged 
existence of the public way was called into question.  The previous 
owner has stated that efforts were made to prevent unlawful dumping 
of waste in or around 1999 /  2000 by the erection of a wooden barrier 
and mound of soil.  He also stated that these attempts continued over a 
period of years.  By implication this could have had the effect of 
challenging or interfering with public access until the barriers were 

Page 32



 
 

removed.  This is not accepted by six claimants and others do not 
recall any issue with access this time.  According to the owners, they 
made repeated efforts to repair the barrier.  Even if the public were 
able to make their way over, around or by removing part of the barrier, 
the route or width as claimed would have been restricted. According to 
one of the claimants it was an attempt to prevent access, although it 
only prevented smaller children. There is however case law in 2002 
which concluded that acts of interruption if removed by the public could 
be treated as acquiescence by the landowner. 

 
4.2 A second question has been raised as to whether access would have 

been available via the route when the houses on The Croft were being 
constructed.  Whilst this section of path via The Croft did not directly 
affect the length claimed between points A-B-C-D, if access to Castle 
Road or Glebe Road was not possible due to the development of The 
Croft, then it is reasonable to question whether the claimed path A-B-
C-D could have been in continuous use and therefore that use was 
interrupted. 

  
4.3 This has been raised with some of the claimants and none have 

conceded the development of The Croft did interfere with their use.  
Moreover that the original path was adjacent to, but not via The Croft. 

 
4.4 The third issue is whether those in support of the application can be 

said to represent the public at large.  There is evidence of use by 
seven who do not live in Landor Drive. 

  
SHOULD A MODIFICATION ORDER BE MADE  

 
4.5 The test set out in Appendix 2 under 3(b) relate to user evidence only.  

As such it is arguable that to justify making an order, the evidence must 
show a public right of way exists on the balance of probabilities.  Under 
the test 3(c), however, the discovery of any evidence which shows it is 
reasonable to allege a public path exists would be sufficient to make a 
Modification Order.  The issue therefore is, if the lower test is applied, 
is it reasonable to conclude a public path exists.  Case law assists in 
this regard, in that under the ruling from R -v- Secretary of State for 
Wales ex parte Emery [1996], a landowner would have to provide 
irrefutable evidence to show a public path could not exist.  The 
allegation that access was interrupted in 2000 is not supported by any 
photographs or independent witnesses, apart from an acknowledgment 
by one of the Claimants that the barrier existed but was only difficult for 
children to use. 

 
4.6. The allegation that The Croft blocked access during its development 

has not been established as an irrefutable fact. Again there are no 
photographs, plans or correspondence between the previous developer 
and this Council in this regard.      

 

Page 33



 
 

4.7    The issue regarding whether use has been by the general public is less 
easy to determine in relation to whether a modification order can be 
made.  No specific guidance can be found from case law or from the 
Planning Inspectorate on what proportion of the total number of users 
would satisfy this criteria. As such, it is possible for this Council to 
conclude use is by the wider community.     

 
Recommended:- that a Modification Order be made for the length of 
path so claimed between points A-B-C-D. 

 
THE POSSIBLE EXISTENCE OF A PUBLIC PATH VIA E-G ( PLAN 

NO.3) 
 
5.1 This length of path is not recorded as a public right of way, although it 

is the route the claimants have identified as the one they have used to 
access The Croft.  It also contains a double pedestrian barrier at point 
G. The registered public footpath is shown via the route E-F, but 
cannot be used today, nor is it known when it first became unavailable 
for use. 

 
5.2 The two houses at either side of the northern end of The Croft, 

numbered 6 and 9, were completed in 2003 and are believed to have 
been the last houses built on this road.  It was noted from a site visit 
and from the representatives of the owner of part of the field, one of 
whom owned this lower section of the land that there are oak trees 
about 6-7 metres high between points E and F. According to this 
previous owner the trees have been there for some thirty years.  Both 
representatives of the developer are from the area and said they have 
personal knowledge of the site.  Furthermore, one of the owner’s 
representatives can confirm that the barriers at point G have been in 
existence for at least 15 years as he can recall his son could not drive 
his small motorcycle past this point.   

 
5.3 It is not known when or by whom these pedestrian barriers were 

installed.  It could have been a measure to either prevent motorcycle 
access into the field or prevent younger people bicycling or running on 
to The Croft.  Whatever the reason for its installation, the barrier is an 
acknowledgement that the public have been passing through this point, 
even if it was mistakenly on the assumption this was the position of the 
public path. 

 
5.4 It is also clear that the existence of the footway via The Croft south of 

point G provides access for the public.   
 
5.5 From an examination of the earlier ordnance survey plans, the path 

was in the position shown by the Definitive Map E-G-J on the second 
edition of the ordnance survey 1899. However, it appears to have 
migrated over the years with its location by 1985 coinciding directly 
with E-G.  The previous owner also said he believes the path ran 
slightly farther west than its current position borne out by the Ordnance 

Page 34



 
 

Survey Plan dated 1971 which was surveyed in 1970.  The path 
subsequently became incorporated into the central part of the Croft and 
so effectively displaced the original alignment.  Therefore the path 
shown on the current Definitive Map south of point F bears no 
resemblance to the route surveyed in 1970 by the ordnance survey.  
Plan No. 3 shows the three different alignments superimposed on to 
the current ordnance survey plan.  It is also worth noting that a number 
of the claimants recall walking close to the Gospel Hall before The 
Croft was built.  That building, now demolished, is shown by the letters 
GH on Plan No. 3.  According to the previous owner The Croft was 
completed in about 2003 as he was involved in building two of these 
properties at that time.   

 
5.6 Secondly, the installation of the barrier has been accepted by previous 

and present owners as defining the position of the walked route.  The 
user evidence suggests the route as shown on the 1985 edition is the 
route that has been in use until The Croft was opened, except for the 
short section between points E and F which did not change when The 
Croft was set out.  The evidence of the previous owner and his 
presence on site in 2000 when he was involved in the building of the 
two houses, adds further weight to the fact E to G is the path which has 
been in use. 

 
5.7 It is clear the Definitive Route is incorrect south east of point E from 

Map evidence and from the use made of E-G by the public since at 
least 1980.    

 
5.8 Consequently, it is proposed to make a Modification Order to recognise 

E-G as the public footpath and to delete the section E-F-J as shown on 
Plan No. 3.  Whilst The Croft is adopted and incorporated the public 
footpath, the Definitive Map still depicts this path as running along the 
centre of The Croft.  The Croft being a public carriageway can no 
longer be classified as a public footpath and therefore cannot be shown 
on the Definitive Map.   

 

 Recommended:- that a Modification Order should be made to delete 
that length of footpath between points E-F-J as shown on Plan No. 3, 
but to add that length E-G as shown on the same plan. 

 
5.9. Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
 The EIA Screening Form has been completed with the agreed 
 outcome that a full EIA report was not required: 
 

The requirement to consider the application can not take account of the 
issues raised regarding the discrimination against people on the basis 
of age, disability, gender re-assignment, marriage and civil 
partnerships, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or non-belief, sex, 
sexual orientation and Welsh Language.  The decision as to whether to 
make a modification has to be based on the evidence submitted and 

Page 35



 
 

undertaken independently of any of the above criteria.  The desirability, 
convenience or suitability of recognising the path as a public one are 
not matters which this Council nor the Planning Inspectorate can take 
into consideration.  As such no equality impact assessment was 
required. 

 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1. There are no legal implications other than those mentioned in the body 

of the report. 
 
7. Financial Implications 
 
7.1. There are no financial implications to making a Modification Order.   
 
FOR INFORMATION 
 
Background papers: 
 
ROW-000203 
 
Appendices:  

 
Appendix 1: Legal Principles concerning applications made to record public 

paths. 
Appendix 2: Extract from the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
Appendix 3: Extract from the Highways Act 1981. 
Appendix 4: Common Law Principles. 
Appendix 4: Special User Group. 
Appendix 5: Details of evidence from the Claimants. 
Appendix 6: Letters of objection from a resident. 
Appendix 7: Letter of objection from owner of land and this Council’s 

response. 
 
 
MJW/ROW-000203  
(KL) 06.11.2013 

Page 36



 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 

LEGAL PRINCIPLES 

 

- Under the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 

53(2), this Council is obliged to keep the Council’s record of public 

rights of way, known as the Definitive Map and Statement under 

continuous review.  Claims for additions to the Map and Statement are 

called “Schedule 14 applications” as they are made under this 

provision to the 1981 Act.  They often are based on the public being 

able to demonstrate their long-term use of the path whether by 

showing: 

 

(a) the minimum period of twenty years, as is required by Section 

31 of the Highways Act; 

 

(b) a greater or lesser period than twenty years but under common 

law. 

 

The Council is also obliged to make amendments to the Map and 

Statement where it discovers other evidence that shows a public path 

exists. 

 

- The manner by which the Definitive Map and Statement can be 

changed is by making a Modification Order, which modifies that Map 

and Statement.  That Order will be subject to objections and 

representations but can only be confirmed by this Council if it is 

unopposed.  If it is opposed the Order has to be referred to the 

National Assembly for Wales for determination. Once the Order has 

been made it cannot be withdrawn or abandoned, unlike public path 

diversion, extinguishment and creation orders where the Council could 

do so if it considered it did not wish to pursue an order, perhaps for 

example, where there were overwhelming numbers of objections which 

it had not envisaged originally.      

Page 37



 
 

 

- In terms of applications to add routes, under the provisions of Section 

31 to the Highways Act 1980 (Appendix 3) a public right of way will be 

deemed to have been dedicated to the public if a minimum period of 

twenty years uninterrupted use can be shown to have been enjoyed by 

the public provisions of Section 53(b) to the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981 therefore apply (Appendix 2). 

 

- This twenty year period is calculated by counting retrospectively from 

the first occasion the publics alleged right to use the way was brought 

into question.  This usually happens when the path is blocked by 

something like a locked gate or fence.  When the twenty year period 

has been identified it is usually termed the “relevant period”.  If there is 

no physical barring of the way then the relevant period is counted 

retrospectively from the date a Schedule 14 application is made. 

 

- Another means by which a path may be presumed to have been 

dedicated is under common law (Appendix 4).  In these circumstances 

the landowner would have to show that he or she had not just 

acquiesced to public use but in some way facilitated or encouraged 

that use.  The owner of all the land containing the claimed public path 

would therefore have to be identified but the period of use need not 

necessarily be twenty years and could be for a lesser period. 

 

-     In addition, the Council may discover other evidence which suggests a 

public path exists.  Under the provision in Section 53(3)(c)(i) to the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, a Council is obliged to make a 

Modification even if it is only reasonable to allege such a way exists 

(Appendix 2).  Such evidence could include user evidence and/or 

documentary evidence. 

Page 38



 
 

APPENDIX  2 
 

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT, 1981 
  

 Section 53 Duty to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under 

continuous review. 

  

 (2) As regards every definitive map and statement, the surveying 

authority shall: 

 

 (a) as soon as reasonably practical after the commencement date, 

by order make such modifications to the map and statement as 

appear to them to be requisite in consequence of the 

occurrence, before that date, of any of the events specified in 

sub-section 3; and 

  

(b) 

 

as from that date, keep the map and statement under 

continuous review and as soon as reasonably practicable after 

the occurrence on or after that date, of any of those events, by 

order make such modifications to the map and statement as 

appear to them to be requisite in consequence of the 

occurrence of that event.   

   

 (3) The events referred to in sub section (2) are as follows:- 

   

 (b) the expiration, in relation to anyway in the area to which the 

map relates of any period such that the enjoyment by the public 

of the way during that period raises a presumption that the way 

has been dedicated as a public path or restricted byway;   

   

 (c) the discovery by the Authority of evidence which (when 

considered with all other relevant evidence available to them) 

shows: 

   

Page 39



 
 

 (i) that a right of way which is not shown on the map and 

statement subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land 

in the area to which the map relates, being a right of way such 

that the land over which the right subsists is a public path, a 

restricted byway or, subject to section 54A a byway open to all 

traffic; 

  

(ii) 

 

that a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway 

of a particular description ought to be there shown as a 

highway of a different description; 

 

 (iii) that there is no public right of way over land shown in the map 

and statement as a highway of any description ,or any other 

particulars contained in the map and statement require 

modification. 

 

Page 40



 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

HIGHWAYS ACT, 1980 
  

 Section 31.  Dedication of way as a highway presumed after public 

use for 20 years. 

  

 Where a public way over land, other than a way of such a character 

that use of it by the public could not give rise at common law to any 

presumption of dedication, has actually been enjoyed by the public 

as of right and without interruption of a full period of 20 years, the 

way is deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is 

sufficient evidence that there was no intention during this period to 

dedicate it. 

  

 For Section 31(1) Highways Act, 1981 to operate and give rise to a 

presumption of dedication the following criteria must be satisfied: 

  

 - the physical nature of the path must be such as is capable of 

being a public right of way; 

 

 - the use must be ‘bought into question’, i.e. challenged or disputed 

in some way; 

 

 - use must have taken place without interruption over the period of 

twenty years before the date on which the right is brought into 

question; 

 

 - use must be as of right i.e. without force, without stealth or without 

permission and in the belief that the route was public; 

 

 - there must be insufficient evidence that the landowner did not 

intend to dedicate a right of type being claimed;  

 

 - use must be by the public at large. 

 

Page 41



 
 

APPENDIX 4 
 

DEDICATION UNDER COMMON LAW 
 
 No minimum period of use is required, but the claimants must show 

that if can be inferred by the landowners conduct, that he or she had 

actually dedicated the route.  User of right, is not of itself necessarily 

sufficient.  Under statute, twenty years, if proved to have been 

uninterrupted will be sufficient to show presumed dedication. 

  

 Under common law it is still possible that use was due to the 

landowners tolerance rather than because that landowner had 

intended to dedicate.  Consequently there needs to be evidence that 

the landowner (or owners) for whatever period is being considered, 

acquiesced to that use and took measures to facilitate public use. 

  

 Obviously this means the landowners have to be identified and 

evidence that they wished to have the route dedicated to the public. 

  

 No minimum period of use is required, but the claimants must show 

that it can be inferred by the landowners conduct, that he or she had 

actually dedicated the route.  Use  is not of itself necessarily sufficient 

as opposed to section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 where  

after twenty years, if proved to have been uninterrupted will be 

sufficient to show presumed dedication. 

  

 Under common law it is still possible that use was due to the 

landowners tolerance rather than because that landowner had 

intended to dedicate.  Consequently there needs to be evidence that 

the landowner (or owners) for whatever period is being considered, 

acquiesced to that use and took measures to facilitate public use. 

  

 This means the landowners have to be identified and that there is 

evidence to show they wished to have the route dedicated to the 

public. 

Page 42



 
 

APPENDIX 5 
 

SPECIAL USER GROUP 
 
 
(a) The Planning Inspectorate has produced advice on this matter in that 

they say there is no strict legal interpretation of the term ‘public’.  The 

dictionary definition being ‘the people as a whole’ or ‘the community in 

general’.  Arguably and sensibly that use should be by a number of 

people who together may be taken to represent the people as a 

whole/the community. 

  

 However, Coleridge L J in R -v- Residents of Southampton [1887] said 

that “ ’use by the public’ must not be taken in its widest sense – for it is a 

common knowledge that in many cases only the local residents ever use 

a particular road or bridge”.  Consequently, use wholly or largely by local 

people may be used by the public as depending on the circumstances of 

the case, that use could be by a number of people who may sensibly be 

taken to represent the local people as a whole/the local community”. 

  

(b) In contrast to this view was the decision made by Lord Parke in Poole -

v- Huskinson [1834] who concluded: “there may be dedication to the 

public for a limited purposeHbut there cannot be dedication to a limited 

part of the public”.  This case was quoted by an Inspector in 1997 

appointed to consider an application to add a public bridleway to the 

Definitive Map for North Yorkshire County Council.  Here the route had 

also been in use for 40 to 50 years.  That Inspector concluded: “In the 

case before Lord Parke, residents of the same parish were held to 

constitute a limited part of the public and I therefore believe the 

inhabitants of the Parish of Cliffs should also be held to constitute a 

limited part”.  The Inspector refused to confirm the Order. 

Page 43



 
 

APPENDIX 6 
 
1.1 The path it is said is used by pupils of Castell Llwchwr Primary School 

who live at Landor Drive and older school children who use the path to 

catch the bus, which stops at the junction of The Croft with Castle 

Road to go to schools in Llanelli, Gorseinon College and Gowerton 

Comprehensive.  This is marked BSh on Plan No. 2. 

 

1.2 The Loughor Foreshore is a popular destination and the path has been 

used to gain access to Footpath No. 43 to Gwydr Place. 

 

1.3 The current housing at Landor Drive and Taliesin Place has been in 

existence since approximately 1980.  Two residents of Taliesin Place 

have said that they utilise two paths leading from this road to access 

the northern hammerhead at Landor Drive, shown point X on Plan No. 

2, in order to reach this claimed public path. 

 

1.4 One Claimant said when he was undertaking work on his house in 

Landor Drive he placed concrete slabs on the path.  However, a 

number of Claimants have referred to planks having been placed on 

sections of the path from an earlier time.  Both were designed to assist 

people in crossing the field, as it was prone to becoming muddy in wet 

weather. 

 

1.5 Another Claimant stated she met the person who owned the field 

before the person referred to in 3.7, took ownership. This occurred on a 

few occasions when visiting one of her friends and said if she saw him 

when shopping for example, she would speak to him.  She believes he 

accepted people used the path as he never took issue with people 

using the path.   

 

1.6 All the claimants who have been interviewed were asked if they were 

ever confronted or challenged by the present or previous landowners 

prior to 2009, and all said they had not.  It does appear that no specific 

Page 44



 
 

verbal warning or written notification by means of a sign was ever 

displayed to bring it to the attention of the claimants that no public path 

existed until the notice and barrier was placed across the path at point 

B on Plan No. 1 in 2009.  However, there is some evidence the public’s 

use was interrupted in or around 2000, as discussed. 

 

1.7 Whilst the route has periodically become encroached by vegetation, 

the aerial photographs of 2005 and 2009 show the position of the path 

and this is the route depicted on Plan No. 1. 

 

1.8. Three other individuals who live at Castle Street and Culfor Road have 

said they have used the path to walk their dogs at Glanymor Park.  

Also two from each of these addresses have friends and relatives in 

the Glanymor Park Area. 

     

Page 45



 
 

APPENDIX 7 
 

LETTER OF OBJECTION  
 

 

Page 46



 
 

APPENDIX 8 
 

LETTER OF OBJECTION FROM THE OWNER OF THE DEVELOPMENT 
SITE AND THE RESPONSE FROM THIS COUNCIL 

 

 

Page 47



 
 

 

Page 48



 
 

 

Page 49



 
 

 

Page 50



 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 
 

 

Page 52



 
 

 
 

Page 53



 
 

 

Page 54



A
B

C

E

G

Gwydr

Place

PW

Path
(um

)

T
H

E
C

R
O

F
T

73

6
4

38

7
6

4

P
ath

(um
)

77

�

Reproduced from the
Ordnance Survey Map

with
the permission of the
controller of HMSO
Crown Copyright

City and County of
Swansea licence no.

100023509

Claimed public footpath 

Scale 1 1000

Registered Public Footpath No.43

A B

Grif Ref SS 567982 

Superimposed from a
aerial photograph  dated 2006

F

Plan no 1

D

C D

66

64

Part of the Boundary of the
 Planning Application Site 

The Croft

Landor Drive

Footpath No. 43

H

 H F

Page 55



LC42

L
C

4
3

L
C

4
1

L
C

4
4

LC44

LC41

256998.883484

256998.883484

1
9

8
1

8
3

.6
4

4
2

9
8

StILES

�

Reproduced from the
Ordnance Survey Map

with
the permission of the
controller of HMSO
Crown Copyright

City and County of
Swansea licence no.

100023509

Claimed public footpath 

Scale 1 1000

BSh

BS BS

Post Office

School

Spar 
Garage

Location of premises to which 
claimants are walking   

Text
Text

BSh Bus Shelter 

BS Bus Stop
Scale 1 4000

Culfor Road

Plan no 2

X

Y

Z

BS

Page 56



Villas

Gwydr

Place

PW

Path
(um

)

1

41

77 73

6
4

63

5
3

5
2

50

2

38

36

30

18

7

6

4

1

Path (um)

Gwydr
1

2

6

P
ath

(um
)

T
H

E
C

R
O

F
T

43

Llys-y-coed

Glanymor Pa

StILES

�

Reproduced from the
Ordnance Survey Map

with
the permission of the
controller of HMSO
Crown Copyright

City and County of
Swansea licence no.

100023509

Scale 1 1000

Grif Ref SS 567982 

�

�

�

�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�

�

�

�

1971 and 1985

1971

1985

1985 and Def

Def

Superimposition of the Definitive Path 
with the 1971 and 1985 editions of the
 ordnance survey  

Scale 1:1000

E

H

Plan No 3

F

J

GH

G
9 6

Page 57



LC42

L
C

1
2

3

L
C

3
9

L
C

4
3

LC44

LC38

L
C

4
1

L
C

4
4LC44

LC41

256607.551913

256607.551913

1
9

7
6

5
2

.9
1

0
3

8
2

1
9

7
6

5
2

.9
1

0
3

8
2

1
9

8
6

5
2

.9
1

0
3

8
2

1
9

8
6

5
2

.9
1

0
3

8
2

StILES

�
Reproduced from the

Ordnance Survey Map
with

the permission of the
controller of HMSO
Crown Copyright

City and County of
Swansea licence no.

100023509

Claimed public footpath 

Scale 1 1000

Approximate location of 
claimants residences  

Plan No 4

Page 58



 
Report of the Head of Economic Development and Planning 

 
Rights of Way and Commons Sub-Committee - 18 June 2014 

 
COUNTRYSIDE ACCESS BUDGET  

 
 

Purpose: 
 

To inform the Committee about the sources of 
funding available for work on public rights of 
way and countryside access. 
 

Reason for Decision:  
 

For information 

Report Author: Chris Dale 
  
Finance Officer: James Moore 
  
Legal Officer: Sandie Richards 
  
Access to Services Officer:  Kirsty Roderick 
 

 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 

1.1 This report considers the resources available for works to improve and 
maintain the 400 miles of public rights of way and other public access in 
the County. 

 
  
2.0 Current financial year 
 
2.1 The funds available for the current financial year are as follows: 
 

Authority       £43,000 
Coast Path grant (100%)     £44,000 
ROWIP grant (Countryside Access Plan) (100%) £37,000 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW) grant (50%)  £6,750 
Gower Society grant (50%)    £8,000 
RDP (100%)       £10,000 

 Total        £148,750 
  

2.2 The Authority’s funds are slightly less than last financial year.  The 
Authority’s £43,000 is used for maintenance, as funding from grants can 
only be used for improvements.  The Coast Path grant is what has been 
offered for this year for specific storm damage repairs.  The ROWIP grant 
and NRW grant are fixed amounts offered each year, although both are 
gradually declining.  Both grants are tied to actions in the Authority’s 
Countryside Access Plan (ROWIP).  The funding for both the Coast Path 

Agenda Item 10

Page 59



and ROWIP is from Welsh Government, but is administered and 
distributed by NRW.  A Gower Society grant of £3,000 will be available for 
the foreseeable future, subject to agreement with the Gower Society.  
Additional Gower Society funds are also available for larger individual 
projects. The RDP grant ends this year with future funding uncertain at 
present.  This round of RDP funding has only been available in Mawr and 
Pontardulais, but if continued it may be available in all of the rural areas of 
the County. 

 
2.3 In addition to the above funds the Authority employs a two man Ranger 

Team to maintain the public rights of way network.  The annual running 
cost of the Ranger Team is £58,000.  The Rangers have worked 
exclusively for the Countryside Access Team since 2002. 

 
 
3.0 Budgets 1996 - 2015 
 
3.1 Since 1996 the funds available for the public path network have varied 

considerably, and are dependent on what sources of funding are 
available, as shown on the chart below.    

 
3.2 In 2002 the UK Government provided extra funds to all authorities to carry 

out the additional duties under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 
2000.  Some of this additional funding was added to the existing Authority 
revenue budget and some was kept separate as a ‘CROW’ budget, 
although in practice both budgets were used to carry out improvements to 
and maintenance of public paths.  Hence last financial year the CROW 
budget was added to the revenue budget.  

 
4.0 Financial Implications 

 
4.1 The report is for information only. 
  
5.0 Equalities and Engagement Implications 

 
5.1     The report is intended for information purposes only therefore an Equality 

Impact Assessment Screening was not required. Policies pay due regard 
to the issue of access (particularly in respect of disabled citizens and 
those with limited mobility) and the network membership is inclusive of all 
protected groups.   

 
6.0 Legal Implications 

 
6.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 
 
Background Papers:  Budget Files 
 
Appendices:  Budget Chart 
 

Page 60



Countryside Access budget 1996-2014

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

9
6

/
9
7

9
7/9

8
9
8

/9
9

9
9/0

0
0
0

/0
1

0
1

/
0

2
0
2

/0
3

0
3

/
0

4
0
4

/0
5

0
5

/
0

6
0
6

/0
7

0
7

/0
8

0
8/0

9
0
9

/1
0

1
0/1

1
1
1

/1
2

1
2

/
1

3
1
3

/1
4

1
4

/
1

5

£
 '
0
0
0
s

Gower Soc

RDP

ROWIP

Coastal

CROW

CCW/NRW

Capital

Revenue

 

P
a
g
e
 6

1


	Agenda
	4 To receive Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests.
	5 Minutes.
	6 Active Travel (Wales) Act Progress Report.  (For Information)
	7 Application to Register Land Known as the Green, Accessed off Y Llwyni, Llangyfelach, Swansea as a Town or Village Green - Application No. 2729(S).
	07.1 - Appendix+1+-+Application+Plan2

	8 Alleged Public Footpath from Pentrechwyth Road to Brokesby Road and Footpath No.451 - Community of Bonymaen.
	08.1 - Plan 1 for Committee  ver 2 Pentrechwyth Road to Brokesby Rd
	08.2 - Dist Claimants plan no 2 Pentrechwyth A 3 1 2500
	08.3 - Dist claimants Brokesby Rd plan 3

	9 Alleged Public Footpath from Landor Drive to the Croft - Community of Loughor.
	09.1 - Plan no 1 final vers The Croft for Committee
	09.2 - The Croft Location Plan NO 2 for committee
	09.3 - The Croft Committee Plan no 3 earlier OS edition routes
	09.4 - Plan no 4 2nd ver Distribution claimanst The Croft

	10 Countryside Access Budget.
	10.1 - Budget96-14


